
 
 

 

CITY AND COUNTY OF SWANSEA 

 
NOTICE OF MEETING 
 
You are invited to attend a Meeting of the  
 

RIGHTS OF WAY AND COMMONS SUB COMMITTEE 
 
At: 
 

Committee Room 2, Civic Centre, Swansea 
 

On: 
 

Wednesday, 3 December 2014 

Time: 
 

2.00 pm 

 
AGENDA 

 
  Page No. 
 
1 Election of Chair for the Remainder of the 2014/2015 Municipal 

year. 
 

 
2 Apologies for Absence.  
 
3 Disclosures of Personal and Prejudicial Interests. 1 - 2 
 
4 Minutes. 3 - 6 

 To approve and sign as a correct record the Minutes of the Meeting of 
the Rights of Way and Commons Sub Committee held on 8 October 
2014. 

 

 
5 Extinguishment of Footpath No 88 - Community of Llangyfelach. 7 - 17 
 
6 Footpath No. 64 - Community of Llanrhidian Higher. 18 - 45 
 
7 Date of Next Meeting - 2 p.m. on Wednesday, 28 January 2015.  
 

 
 
Patrick Arran 
Head of Legal, Democratic Services & Procurement 
25 November 2014 

Contact: Democratic Services: - 636016 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

RIGHTS OF WAY & COMMONS SUB COMMITTEE (12) 
 

Councillors 
 

Labour Councillors: 8 

Ann M Cook  Jennifer A Raynor  

Joe A Hale Robert V Smith (Vice-Chair) 

Jane E C Harris Des W W Thomas  

Yvonne V Jardine T Mike White 

 
Liberal Democrat Councillors: 2 

Paul M Meara John Newbury 

 
Independent Councillor: 1 

Keith E Marsh  

 
Conservative Councillor: 1 

Linda J Tyler-Lloyd  
 

Officers: 

Phil Holmes Head of Regeneration & Planning 

Deb Smith Directorate Lawyer, Legal, 
Democratic Services & Procurement 

Sandie Richards Principal Lawyer 

Kim Flanders Planning Policy & Environment 
Manager, Regeneration & Housing 
Department 

Chris Dale Countryside Access Team Leader 
(Rights of Way), Regeneration & 
Housing Department 

Mike Workman Rights of Way Officer, Legal & 
Democratic Services & Procurement 

Democratic Services  

Planning Services  

Archives  

Spare  
 

28 Copies  
 



E:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\5\5\0\AI00010055\$5y3t4fkh.doc 

Disclosures of Interest 

 
To receive Disclosures of Interest from Councillors and Officers 

 

Councillors 

 
Councillors Interests are made in accordance with the provisions of the 
Code of Conduct adopted by the City and County of Swansea.  You must 
disclose orally to the meeting the existence and nature of that interest. 
 
NOTE: You are requested to identify the Agenda Item / Minute No. / Planning 
Application No. and Subject Matter to which that interest relates and to enter 
all declared interests on the sheet provided for that purpose at the meeting. 
 
1. If you have a Personal Interest as set out in Paragraph 10 of the 

Code, you MAY STAY, SPEAK AND VOTE unless it is also a 
Prejudicial Interest.  

 
2. If you have a Personal Interest which is also a Prejudicial Interest as 

set out in Paragraph 12 of the Code, then subject to point 3 below, you 
MUST WITHDRAW from the meeting (unless you have obtained a 
dispensation from the Authority’s Standards Committee) 

 
3. Where you have a Prejudicial Interest you may attend the meeting but 

only for the purpose of making representations, answering questions or 
giving evidence relating to the business, provided that the public are 
also allowed to attend the meeting for the same purpose, whether 
under a statutory right or otherwise.  In such a case, you must 
withdraw from the meeting immediately after the period for 
making representations, answering questions, or giving evidence 
relating to the business has ended, and in any event before further 
consideration of the business begins, whether or not the public are 
allowed to remain in attendance for such consideration (Paragraph 14 
of the Code). 

 
4. Where you have agreement from the Monitoring Officer that the 

information relating to your Personal Interest is sensitive information, 
as set out in Paragraph 16 of the Code of Conduct, your obligation to 
disclose such information is replaced with an obligation to disclose the 
existence of a personal interest and to confirm that the Monitoring 
Officer has agreed that the nature of such personal interest is sensitive 
information. 

 
5. If you are relying on a grant of a dispensation by the Standards 

Committee, you must, before the matter is under consideration: 
 

i) Disclose orally both the interest concerned and the existence of 
the dispensation; and 

ii) Before or immediately after the close of the meeting give written 
notification to the Authority containing: 

 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



E:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\5\5\0\AI00010055\$5y3t4fkh.doc 

a) Details of the prejudicial interest; 
b) Details of the business to which the prejudicial interest 

relates; 
c) Details of, and the date on which, the dispensation was 

granted; and  
d) Your signature 

 

Officers 

 
Financial Interests 
 
1. If an Officer has a financial interest in any matter which arises for 

decision at any meeting to which the Officer is reporting or at which the 
Officer is in attendance involving any member of the Council and /or 
any third party the Officer shall declare an interest in that matter and 
take no part in the consideration or determination of the matter and 
shall withdraw from the meeting while that matter is considered.  Any 
such declaration made in a meeting of a constitutional body shall be 
recorded in the minutes of that meeting.  No Officer shall make a report 
to a meeting for a decision to be made on any matter in which s/he has 
a financial interest. 

 
2. A “financial interest” is defined as any interest affecting the financial 

position of the Officer, either to his/her benefit or to his/her detriment.  It 
also includes an interest on the same basis for any member of the 
Officers family or a close friend and any company firm or business from 
which an Officer or a member of his/her family receives any 
remuneration.  There is no financial interest for an Officer where a 
decision on a report affects all of the Officers of the Council or all of the 
officers in a Department or Service. 

 

Page 2



CITY AND COUNTY OF SWANSEA 

 
MINUTES OF THE RIGHTS OF WAY AND COMMONS SUB-COMMITTEE 

 
HELD AT THE CIVIC CENTRE, SWANSEA ON WEDNESDAY 8 OCTOBER 

2014 AT 2.00 P.M.  
 
 PRESENT:  Councillor J A Raynor (Chair) presided 
 
 Councillor(s): Councillor(s): Councillor(s): 
    
 A M Cook P M Meara L J Tyler-Lloyd 
 K E Marsh R V Smith  T M White 
 
 ALSO PRESENT:    
    
 Councillor C M R W D Thomas - Newton Ward Member 
 
 Officers:   
    
 S Richards - Principal Lawyer  
 M Workman - Rights of Way Officer  
 J Parkhouse - Democratic Services Officer  
 
21. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors J E C Harris, Y 

V Jardine, J Newbury and D W W Thomas. 
 
22. DISCLOSURES OF PERSONAL AND PREJUDICIAL INTERESTS 
 
 In accordance with the Code of Conduct adopted by the City and 

County of Swansea, no interests were declared. 
 
23. MINUTES 
 
 RESOLVED that the Minutes of the meeting of the Rights of Way and 

Commons Sub-Committee held on 13 August 2014 be accepted as a 
correct record.   

 
 The Sub-Committee were updated on the following: 
 
 Minute No. 15 - Extinguish Right of Way - Path No. 88 - Community 

of Llangyfelach 
 
 It was reported that the Order could be referred to the Planning 

Inspectorate who could consider the request to sever the Order.  
However, that does not mean the request will be successful.  The Chair 
requested that a written report be provided at the next scheduled 
meeting.   

Page 3

Agenda Item 4



Minutes of the Rights of Way and Commons Sub-Committee  
(08.10.2014) Cont’d 

 
 
24. ALLEGED PUBLIC FOOTPATH FROM BIRCHGROVE ROAD TO 

SMITH’S ROAD - COMMUNITY OF BIRCHGROVE 
 
 The Head of Legal, Democratic Services and Procurement presented a 

report to determine the application in accordance with the provisions of 
the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.   

 
 It was outlined that on 5 December 2013 an application was made 

under the provisions of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 to the 
Council to recognise the path shown on the attached plan provided at 
Appendix 1 as a public right of way on foot.  The claim had been 
supported by 10 individuals who allege an average of 40 years use of 
the path.  The usual means by which an application is determined is to 
assess whether the way had been dedicated under Section 31 of the 
Highways Act 1980, that is if there had been a minimum period of 20 
years uninterrupted use from the date the alleged existence of the path 
was called into question.  Appendix 2 of the report provided the 
relevant extract.  The date was taken either from the occasion the path 
was blocked or warnings given to the public that no such right existed 
or from the date of the application.   

 
 The path comprises tarmac for its central portion being 2.5 metres wide 

and flanked by two grass verges which increase the width of the lane to 
6 metres.  Five bollards had been placed at its junction with Birchgrove 
Road and three at its junction with Smith’s Road.  The path is included 
as a publicly maintained highway on the Council’s Plan of Adopted 
Streets.  Section 36(6) of the Highways Act 1980 requires all 
authorities in England and Wales to provide and keep up to date a list 
within its area of such highways which are maintained by them and 
Appendix 3 provided further information on what the list should include.  
The Sub-Committee was also provided with the history of the path.   

 
 It was concluded that the evidence shows that the Council has adopted 

the entire width of the path between point A and B and so given its 
physical character it must have a minimum status of footpath.  It is 
possible to be accessible by equestrians but there is no evidence of 
such use.  The application had specified the narrower central section 
which is tarmacked and subject to the formal adoption procedure under 
Section 228 of the Highways Act 1980.  As such, that narrower section 
could be made the subject of a Legal Event Modification Order so that 
it could be added to the Definitive Map and Statement.  Given that it 
would be made on the basis that it had already been recorded as a 
public highway, there will be no opportunity for the public to take issue 
with that and so the Order would not have to be advertised.   

 
 

Page 4



Minutes of the Rights of Way and Commons Sub-Committee  
(08.10.2014) Cont’d 

 
 
 RESOLVED that a Legal Event Modification Order be made to add the 

path shown A-B into the Definitive Map and Statement reflecting the 
2.5 metre wide length of footpath. 

 
25. APPLICATION TO REGISTER LAND KNOWN AS CASTLE ACRE 

GREEN, NORTON, SWANSEA AS A TOWN OR VILLAGE GREEN - 
APPLICATION NO. 2731(S) 

 
 The Head of Legal, Democratic Services and Procurement presented a 

report to inform the Sub-Committee of the proposal to hold a non-
statutory inquiry.   

 
 It was outlined that the Council had received an application made by Dr 

Robert Leek on behalf of the Castle Acre Village Green Action Group 
under Section 15(3) of the Commons Act 1996 in respect of land 
known locally as Castle Acre Green, Norton, Swansea.  The 
application sought to register the land as a town or village green and a 
plan of the land was provided at Appendix 1.   

 
 It was added that the land in question is not registered at HM Land 

Registry.  However, it had been confirmed by the Council that the land 
had been maintained by its Parks Services Department since the 
1970s and the Council had made an objection to the application.  The 
Head of Legal, Democratic Services and Procurement had used the 
delegated authority granted by the Sub-Committee on 15 February 
2012 to instruct Counsel to advise on the application and the 
appropriate procedure to be adopted in determining the application.  
Counsel had advised that there are issues of fact and law in dispute 
and it would be appropriate to hold a non-statutory inquiry.  The holding 
of such an inquiry will ensure that evidence from both the application 
and the objectors can be heard and tested and the issues examined 
and argued.  Once the inquiry had taken place, Counsel will issue a 
report with recommendations for the Sub-Committee to consider. 

 
 RESOLVED that the contents of the report be noted. 
 
26. APPLICATION TO REGISTER LAND AT PICKET MEAD, NEWTON, 

SWANSEA AS A TOWN OR VILLAGE GREEN - APPLICATION NO. 
2730(S) 

 
 The Head of Legal, Democratic Services and Procurement presented a 

report to inform the Sub-Committee of the proposal to hold a non-
statutory inquiry.   

 
  
 

Page 5



Minutes of the Rights of Way and Commons Sub-Committee  
(08.10.2014) Cont’d 

 
 
 It was outlined that the Council had received an application by Mr 

Simon Arthur under Section 15(2) of the Commons Act 2006 in respect 
of land at Picket Mead, Newton, Swansea.  The application sought to 
register land as a town or village green and a plan of the land was 
provided at Appendix 1.   

 
 It was added that the land in question is owned by the Council and the 

application site forms part of common land unit CL 4(S).  It is of note 
that the Council in its capacity as landowner had not made an objection 
to the application.  However, an objection has been received from 
Carrington Moore Estates who own Picket Mead House and have the 
benefit of an easement over the land.  The Head of Legal, Democratic 
Services and Procurement had used the delegated authority granted 
by the Sub-Committee on 15 February 2012 to instruct Counsel to 
advise on the application and the appropriate procedure to be adopted 
in determining the application.  Counsel had advised that there are 
issues of fact and law in dispute and it would be appropriate to hold a 
non-statutory inquiry.  The holding of such an inquiry will ensure that 
evidence from both the applicant and the objectors can be heard and 
tested and the issues examined.  Once the inquiry has taken place, 
Counsel will issue a report with recommendations for the Sub-
Committee to consider.  

 
 RESOLVED that the contents of the report be noted. 
 
27. DATE OF NEXT MEETING  
 
 NOTED that the next meeting be held at 2.00 p.m. on Wednesday 3 

December 2014. 
 
 
 
 The meeting ended at 2.17 p.m.  
 

 
 
 

CHAIR 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
S: Rights of Way and Commons Sub-Committee - 8 October 2014 
(JEP) - 17 October 2014  

Page 6



 
Report of the Head of Legal, Democratic Services and Procurement  

 
Rights of Way and Commons Sub-Committee - 3 December 2014 

 
EXTINGUISHMENT OF FOOTPATH NO. 88 

COMMUNITY OF LLANGYFELACH  

 

Purpose: 
 

To decide whether to: 
 
(a) Refer the Order as made for confirmation 

(b) Abandon the Order and make another. 

(c) Request that the Planning Inspectorate sever 
the Order. 

(c) Defer consideration until the village green 
application has been determined.   

 
Policy Framework: 
 

PPO16 of the Countryside Access Plan.  
 

Statutory Test: Section 118 of the Highways Act 1980.  
 

Reason for Decision:  
 

Members to decide.  
 

Consultation: 
 

All statutory consultees which included the Clerk 
to the Community Council, the owner/occupiers of 
4 Cae Penpant, 49 Heol Waun Wen and Penpant 
House, Dwr Cymru, the Ramblers Association 
and their local representative, Wales and West 
Utilities, the British Horse Society and their local 
representative, the Open Spaces Society, Natural 
Resources Wales, BT and Byways and 
Bridleways Trust.  

 
Recommendation(s): As previously that the provisions of Section 118 

can be satisfied and therefore the Order be 
referred to the Planning Inspectorate for 
determination.  

 
Report Author: Michael. J. Workman 
  
Finance Officer: Sarah Willis  
  
Legal Officer: Sandie Richards  
  
Access to Services 
Officer: 

 
Phil Couch 
 

 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 5



1.0 Introduction 
 
1.1 On the 13th August 2014 this Committee considered the proposal to 

extinguish the footpath between points A-X and from Y-B-C-D-E-F.  At 
the time the informal consultations were undertaken no objections had 
been raised.  Consequently the 124 objections and the 33 from the local 
primary school that were subsequently made to the Order were 
unforeseen.  

 
1.2 13 objections were withdrawn with the majority of the outstanding 

objections being concerned with the determination of the application for 
village green status.  It would appear that the objectors believe that the 
Order was made to enable the site to be developed in the future.  The 
report is attached for reference.  

 
2.0 Issues Arising from Previous Meeting 
 
2.1 At the meeting on 13th August 2014 this Committee expressed concern 

over the loss of the section of the path A-X that is the subject of the 
Order where it crosses over the land that is subject of the village green 
application given the volume of objections to its potential loss. 

 
2.2 Due to the objections this Council cannot confirm the Order and so could 

either abandon the Order or refer the Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for its determination. 

 
2.3 A third alternative was raised as to whether this Council could refer the 

Order to the Planning Inspectorate but request that the section A-X be 
retained and so only the remainder of the path be extinguished.   

 
2.4 The Welsh Office Circular 5/93 (and therefore produced in 1993) is still 

the most recent set of guidelines directly applicable to Wales on 
processing public path orders.  There is no reference to the possibility of 
dividing or severing an Order.  However the more up to date Rights of 
Way Circular 1/08 and produced in 2008 does make reference to an 
Inspector’s power to modify an order under Section 118 of the Highways 
Act 1980.  This circular applies to England.  Consequently the Planning 
Inspectorate for Wales were asked if this option would be available and 
the response was that an Inspector “should be able to deal with the 
modification process”. 

 
2.5 If this option was pursued and the appointed Inspector agreed to the 

request and was minded to sever the Order any decision made on that 
basis would have to be advertised given the result would be the 
extinguishment of only part of the way. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 8



3.0 Summary 
  
3.1 The Order could be referred as made and the case forwarded that the 

majority of objections are not relevant as:- 
 

(a) the existence or otherwise of a village green has no bearing on 
whether there is a need for the path;  

 
(b) that there is a suitable alternative in being and adopted, which is 

the basis for the Order and so the provision of Section 118 can be 
satisfied. 

 
3.2     The Council could decide to simply abandon the Order and make another 

so that it only includes the length Y-B-C-D-E-F given:- 
 
(a)  this section can no longer be used;  
 
(b) there is an alternative via the adopted Estate paths and footways;  
 
(c) the strong opposition to the loss of the section A-X which had not 

been raised prior to the Order being made.     
 
3.3 Thirdly the Order could be sent to the Planning Inspectorate and a 

request made for the Order to be severed so that only the section Y-B-C-
D-E-F be extinguished on the same basis as 3.2 above. Three options 
arise:- 

 
(a) The request may not be accepted. 
 
(b) If the request is accepted, the appointed Inspector could 

nonetheless still decide that the order should not be severed and 
confirm the order as made. 

 
(c) The Order is severed although the “modification” to the original 

order would have to be re advertised and itself subject to 
objections. 
 

3.4 Finally not to progress the Order until the issue concerning the village 
green application has been determined. The possible consequences 
are:- 

 
(a)  The land is not given village green status and so the current 

position would remain unchanged.  
 
(b) If the village green application succeeds, then it is possible all the 

current objections could be withdrawn. However this is not 
necessarily guaranteed as some members of the public may still 
consider the public path should remain. 

 
 

Page 9



4.0 Equality and Engagement Implications 
 

There are no equality and engagement implications associated with this 
report. 
 

5.0 Financial Implications 
 

Although the cost of referring to the Planning Inspectorate for 
determination will depend on how it is treated, it is expected to mainly 
involve officer time and some minimal advertising costs, which can be 
covered from existing budgets. 

 
6.0 Legal Implications 
 
 There are no legal implications associated with this report. 
 
 
Background Papers:  ROW-000232 
 
Appendices:  
 
Appendix A – Site Plan 
Appendix B - Previous report to this Committee on the 13th August 2014  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 10



A

B

F

CD

E

Y-W
ERN

Y LLWYNI

PA
NT-

Y-
BL

O
DAU

Y W
AUN FA

CH

H
E

O
L 

W
A

U
N

 W
E

N

H
EO

L W
AU

N
 W

EN

M
AES-Y-DDERW

EN

S
W

A
N

S
E

A
 R

O
A

D

FF
O

R
D

D
 D

E
W

I
LLYS SANT TEILO

BRYN Y

CAE PENPANT

C
LO

S SAN
T TEILO

GORS

SANT T
EILO

T
E

ILO

CAE CRUG

MAES

C
LO

S
 S

A
N

T

C
A

E
 E

IT
H

IN

11

11

11

11

11

11

110.9m

102.1m

109.1m

100.9m

101

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

43

4

4

4

4
2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

5

5

5

5

9

9

9

9
6

6

6

6

6

6

44

44

10

10

10

10

3

3

3

3

12

12

12

12

12

12

7

7

7

7

7

7

13

13

13

9998

94
88

88

81

78

76

76

75

74

73

72

70

67

66

65

64

62

61

60

58

58

57

55

54

52

52

49

49

48

48

48

47

46

14

14

14

14

8

8

8

8

8

42

42

41

40

40

40

39

39

39

38

37

36

35

35

34

34

34
33

33

33

32

32

3 2

31

31

31

31

31

30

30

30 30

30

29

29

29

29

28

28

27

27

27

27

26

25

25

25

24

23

23

23

23

22

22

21

21

21

21

21

20

20

20

20

19

19

19

19

18

18

17

17 16

16

16

15

15

103a99a

El Sub Sta

ElSubSta

Y Wenallt

Hillcrest

Hen Ysgubor

House

Meadow View

Penpant

Bryngelli

C
LO

S 
W

AU
N

 W
EN

StILES

�

 Path to be Extinguished A F

Scale 1 :2000 Grid Ref SS 649986

XY

Z

Alternative path to include
 the adopted estate roads 

Crown Copyright database right 2014
Ordnance Survey 100023391
Hawlfraint Y Goron a hawl cronfa data 2014
Yr Arolwg Ordnans 2014

Appendix A

Page 11



Appendix B 
 

Report of the Head of Legal, Democratic Services and Procurement  
 

Rights of Way and Commons Sub-Committee – 13 August 2014 
 

EXTINGUISHMENT OF FOOTPATH NO. 88 
COMMUNITY OF LLANGYFELACH  

 

Purpose: 

 

To decide whether to proceed with the Order for 
confirmation or to abandon the Order.  

 
Policy Framework: 
 

PPO16 of the Countryside Access Plan.  
 

Statutory Test: Section 118 of the Highways Act 1980. 
 

Reason for Decision:  
 

To decide whether to proceed with the Order for 
confirmation or to abandon the Order. 
 

Consultation: 
 

All the statutory consultees which included the 
Local Member, the Clerk to the Community 
Council, the owner/occupiers of 4 Cae Penpant, 
49 Heol Waun Wen, and Penpant House, Dwr 
Cymru, The Ramblers Association and their local 
representative, Wales and West Utilities, the 
British Horse Society and their local 
representative, the Open Spaces Society, Natural 
Resources Wales, B.T. and Byways and 
Bridleways Trust.  

 
Recommendation(s): That the Extinguishment Order be referred to the 

Planning Inspectorate for determination  
 
Report Author: Mike Workman 
  
Finance Officer: Sarah Willis  
  
Legal Officer: 
 

Sandie Richards 
 

  
Access to Services 
Officer: 

 
Phillip Couch 

  

 
1.0 Introduction 
 
1.1 On the 11th day of March 2014 this Council made an Extinguishment 

Order under section 118 of the Highways Act 1980 to remove the length 
of path shown between points A-B-C-D-E-F.  Footpath No. 88 between 
points A-X is under the ownership of this Council, the remaining sections 

Page 12



under the ownership of those who have title to the three separate 
properties built on the path.  The alternative is vested in this Council 
having been adopted as public ways.   

1.2 One hundred and twenty four objections were made to this Order and 
another thirty three from the pupils of Llangyfelach Primary School. 

 
1.3 The Order was made under delegated authority by officers of this As 

objections have been made to the Order, there is no authority for officers 
to decide whether the Order should be forwarded to the Planning 
Inspectorate or be abandoned.  

 
1.4 Under the Act, the Council has the discretion to abandon the Order after 

it has been made if it considers it is not expedient to confirm the Order.  
 
2.0 Background  
 
2.1 Lliw Valley Borough Council made a Diversion Order in 1988 to take 

account of the earlier housing development between points B-C-D-E-F.  
That Order failed as there was no consent from the owner of land over 
which the alternative was intended to pass. 

 
2.2 Since 1988 further residential development has occurred within 

Llangyfelach at different times.  At each phase alternative paths and 
footways have been set out by the individual developers which in effect 
have created an alternative route for Footpath No. 88.   

 
2.3 The attached plan shows the alternative route as a broken line which 

includes tarmacked footpaths via A-X and Y-Z between 1.5 and 2.0 
metres in width, but in the case of the latter set in a wider corridor.  A-X 
passes across an area of green open space.  The remaining lengths of 
the alternative includes the footway of Cae Penpant and the footway 
alongside Maes Teilo. 

 
2.4 The footways and footpaths between points A-X-Y-Z and onto Swansea 

Road have been adopted as public highways and included into this 
Council’s “list of streets”.  Therefore that adoption has secured the 
public’s right to utilise this alternative walkway. 

 
3.0 Grounds for Making an Order under Section 118 of the Highways 

Act 1980 
 
3.1 An order may be made if it is considered the path is not needed for public 

use. 
 
3.2 The basis for making this Order is evidently due to the existing alternative 

that has been secured and which is in good condition. 
 
3.3 The Council and/or the Welsh Ministers shall not confirm an order unless 

they are satisfied it is expedient to do so having regard to the extent to 
which the path would be used by the public. 

Page 13



 
 
3.4 The objection apart from three letters, are solely concerned with the loss 

of what is considered to be a village green between points A and X, and 
the presumption the Extinguishment Order is linked to the potential 
development of the site.  Each objector and the Headmaster of 
Llangyfelach Primary School were sent a letter explaining the reasons 
why the Order was made.  Secondly that their concerns over the loss of 
the green area of open space is likely to be determined in October this 
year, when a public inquiry will be held to determine the outstanding 
application to register the area as a village green.  At the time of writing 
thirteen people have withdrawn their objection after having received this 
explanation of why the Order was made. 

 
3.5 However two responded to state that they do not wish to withdraw for the 

following reasons: 
 

(a) The extinguishment is a forerunner to leaving a plot of land which 
could then be used for rebuilding. 

 
(b) The village green is accessible by this footpath. 
 
(c) There may be other access to the village green but none cross the 

village green. 
 
(d) The closure of Footpath No. 88 will result in increased walker 

traffic through the alternative route. 
 
(e) Footpath No. 88 allows access to a local shop through a flat 

surface, whereas the alternative is via steep incline.  
 

3.6 Section 118 also enables a Council or the Welsh Ministers to take 
account of any other order that has been made to provide an alternative.  
In this example no additional order is outstanding as the alternative has 
already been set out and adopted.  Consequently consideration can be 
given to the existing  alternative and therefore whether the path being 
extinguished is likely to be used, given the provision of the alternative. 

 
3.7 Therefore addressing the outstanding objections: 
 

(a) If the site was to be developed, then the consent could  make 
provision for the existing path and in effect build around the path.  
Alternatively consent for development does provide valid grounds 
for either diverting or extinguishing the path, if it is necessary to 
enable the development to proceed.  As such whilst the 
existence of a public path is a material consideration as to 
whether or what type of comment is granted, it would not of itself 
prevent a development.  Nonetheless there is no outstanding 
application to develop the site. 

 

Page 14



 
(b)&(c) Should the area being designated as a village green, access to 

and over that green would be obtainable from all the surrounding 
paths and adopted roads. There would be no need to retain a 
public footpath. (notwithstanding a public footpath and the land 
over which it crosses cannot be designated as a village green). 

 
(d) There is no path set out across the grass, it is simply a 

designated line following an old field boundary consisting of a 
bank and a row of mature trees. 

 
(e) The alternative therefore is more likely to be used throughout the 

year as it is tarmacked and also provides access to the same 
destinations.  Secondly apart from the section between X-Z the 
remaining length is on level ground.  There is no level alternative 
to the section X-Z.  

 
3.8 Section 118 also states that any temporary circumstances preventing or 

diminishing the use of the path shall be disregarded.  Therefore the fact 
that part of Footpath No. 88 has been built on, is not a reason in itself for 
extinguishing the path.  The basis for why it is considered the Order 
should be confirmed however is due to the provision of the alternative.  

 
3.9 The decision as to whether or not an Extinguishment Order should be 

confirmed shall have regard to this Council’s Access Policy and the 
relevant extracts are contained in Appendix 1. 

 
3.10 Any order that diverts, creates or extinguishes a public path can render 

the Council liable to pay compensation to the owners of the land 
adversely affected.  In this instance the effect the loss of the public right 
of way would have where it can be shown: 

 
(a) the value of an interest of a person in land is depreciated; or  
 
(b) that a person has suffered damage by being disturbed in his 

enjoyment of the land in consequence of the coming into 
operation of the Order. 

 
There is no perceived loss to the Council as a consequence of this 
Order being confirmed and coming into operation.  Evidently the 
confirmation of the Order would be in the interests of those three 
properties built across the path. 
 

4.0 Conclusion  
 
4.1 For the above reasons it is considered the order could be confirmed by 

the Welsh Ministers if it is submitted to the Planning Inspectorate for 
determination. 

 
 

Page 15



 
5.0 Equality and Engagement Implications 
 
5.1 There are no equality and engagement implications with this report. 
 
6.0 Financial Implications 
 
6.1 There are no financial implications associated with this report. 
 
7.0 Legal Implications 
 
7.1 There are no legal implications associated with this report. 
 
 
Background Papers:  ROW-000232  
 
Appendices:  Appendix 1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 16



 
APPENDIX 1 

 
 

(a) Policy PPO16 states: 

 “Extinguishment will be considered where the requisite legal tests are 

met that the path is no longer needed for public use.  This test may be 

met if there is alternative public access that has effectively replaced the 

path.” 

 

(b) Under paragraph 5.16:  

 “Large scale development can completely alter an existing landscape 

and the access needs of the public will change considerably.  To reflect 

this change the existing public access may require partial or complete 

alteration, but in doing so the overall public access should be maintained 

or enhanced.”  

 

 PPO17:  

 “Diversions of paths across sites affected by development will only be 

permitted where it is proven that the path must be diverted to enable the 

development to be carried out, and only then where an acceptable 

alternative route is provided.” 

 

 PPO18:  

 The stopping up of paths for development will only be permitted in 

exceptional circumstances.  

 

 

 

Page 17



Report of the Head of Legal, Democratic Services and Procurement  
 

Rights of Way and Commons Sub-Committee – 3 December 2014 
 

FOOTPATH NO. 64 - COMMUNITY OF LLANRHIDIAN HIGHER  

 
 
Purpose:  The report presents an update on this issue. 
 
Report Author:     M. J. Workman  
 
Finance Officer:     S. Willis  
 
Legal Officer:      S. Richards  
 
Access to Services Officer:   P Couch  
 
FOR INFORMATION 

 
1. Background 
 
1.1 On the 17th July 2013 this issue was referred back to this Committee as 

the original Modification Order that was made on the 5th November 
2009 had been rejected by the Planning Inspectorate on the basis the 
Order was incorrectly drafted. 

 
1.2 This Committee was obliged to confirm it wished a second Modification 

should be made given the time that had elapsed since the first (as 
highlighted in paragraph 1.8(a) to that report and as appended). 

 
1.3 The second Modification Order was made on the 25th July 2013 to 

which two objections were made. 
 
1.4 The Order was not referred to the Planning Inspectorate until the 14th 

May 2014, because the owners of Penyrheol and the neighbouring 
premises Caerau were attempting to negotiate a mutually acceptable 
alternative path.  Given that was not possible, the Modification has to 
be determined by the Planning Inspectorate who have decided to hold 
a Public Inquiry. This is scheduled to be held at the Penclawdd 
Community Centre, Banc Bach, Penclawdd on the 17th December 2014 
commencing at 10.00 a.m.  

 
2. Equality and Engagement Implications 
 
 There are no financial implications associated with this report. 
 
3. Legal Implications 
 
 There are no legal implications associated with this report. 
 

Page 18

Agenda Item 6



4. Financial Implications 
 
 There are no financial implications associated with this report. 
 
 
FOR INFORMATION 
 
Background papers:  
 
Bundles 1-3 and Appendix 1 as prepared for the Public Inquiry.   
 
Appendices:   
 
Appendix 1 - The Report to the Rights of Way and Commons Sub-Committee 
on the 17 July 2013.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ROW-000092/MJW 

 
EJF - 31.10.2014 

Page 19



 

Appendix 1 
 

Report of the Head of Legal, Democratic Services and Procurement 
 

Rights of Way and Commons Sub-Committee - 17 July 2013 
 

PUBLIC PATH 64 
COMMUNITY OF LLANRHIDIAN HIGHER  

 
 

Purpose: 
 

To decide to re-make the Modification Order for 
the same purpose. 
 

Policy Framework: 
 

The Countryside Access Plan, Section 4.12. 
 

Statutory Tests: Section 53(3)(c). 
 

Reasons for Decision:  
 

(i) The original modification was rejected by the 
Planning Inspectorate. 

(ii) It has not been possible to resolve the 
anomaly by negotiation. 

(iii) A Modification Order has to be re-made due 
to the time that has elapsed since the first.  
This Committee has to re-determine the 
matter. 

 
Consultation: 
 

The landowners of Penyrheol and Caerau, 
Finance, Economic Regeneration and Planning. 

 
Recommendation(s): It is recommended that a Modification Order 

should be made to amend the written statement 
to describe Footpath No. 64 as passing via 
Penyrheol Farm as shown in the Definitive Map.  

  
Report Author: M J Workman 
  
Finance Officer: Kim Lawrence 
 
Legal Officer: S Richards  
 

 
 

1.0 Background 
 
1.1 On 6th August 2009 the issue concerning the report was submitted to the 

Cabinet Member for Economic and Strategic Development (as appended 
to this report).  It highlighted the anomaly which exists between the 
depiction of Footpath No. 64 in the Definition Map and its description in 
the Statement. 

 

Page 20



 

1.2 On 5th November that year a modification was made to correct the error 
on the basis the Definitive Map is correct and so the description in the 
Statement was altered to reflect the alignment of the path shown in the 
Definitive Map.  

 
1.3 The path is shown passing alongside Penyrheol Farm and the owners 

and occupiers objected on the basis the Statement reflects the correct 
position of the path. 

 
1.4 As a result the Order was referred to the Planning Inspectorate which 

was rejected, but not on the evidence, rather that the Order should have 
included a plan showing the path and that the incorrect sub-section of the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 was quoted. 

 
1.5 Issue was taken with the decision and some concession from officers 

within the Inspectorate that the Order as drafted could be acceptable.  It 
was nonetheless returned to the Council on 8th October 2010 by the 
appointed Inspector with further advice from the Inspectorate received on 
15th December 2010 and on 11th July 2011. 

 
1.6 As the Order had been rejected, an opportunity arose to pursue an 

alternative means of resolving the problem as this had been previously 
suggested by the then Local Member.  One option was to consider the 
possibility of diverting the path to a route that would be mutually 
acceptable to the owner, this Council and the public.   

 
1.7 From 6th September 2011 until 20th March 2013, various attempts had 

been made to identify an alternative route which would be acceptable to 
both the objector to the original Order and the neighbouring premises, 
namely Caerau, over whose land the path is described in the Statement.  
The proposal was in effect to initially place the alternative path 
approximately along the boundary of the two properties, before bringing 
the path to the south of Penyrheol Farm into the “sunken lane”.  In the 
event, the owner of Penyrheol informed this Council in a letter dated 20th 
March 2013 that they are unable to consider a diversion of the path until 
the issue of the Modification has been determined.  

 
1.8 As such the position now reverts to that of August 2009 when this 

Council decided the written statement should describe the path that 
passes alongside Penyrheol Farm.  The reason for bringing the second 
report to Committee is twofold:  

 
(a) Under the provisions of the 1981 Act, the date specified in the 

Order must not be more than 6 months before the making of the 
Order. 

 
(b) Since the Order was made the objection letter set out a number of 

issues to which reference should be made before another decision 
is taken. 

 

Page 21



 

1.9 So if there is a resolution by this Committee to make an Order, the date 
specified in that Order should not be more than 6 months after that 
meeting.   
 

1.10 Given the previous decision was made approximately three and a half 
 years ago, a new resolution is needed.   
 
1.11 Since the Order was made the objection letter made several points as to 

why the Order should have shown the public path via Caerau.  Two 
additional unsigned statements were submitted, one from the uncle and 
one from the cousin of the present owner (born in 1922 and 1942 
respectively).  The former, who was born at Penyrheol Farm recalls the 
occasion when the funeral procession was diverted away from passing 
north alongside that farm which he states was due to the gradient of the 
track.  He also stated he saw no one use the path via Penyrheol.  The 
cousin said the southern part of the lane was almost impossible to walk 
due to springs and wells, but said cattle were taken this way although 
with difficulty, which is why in his opinion no one travelled that way. 

 
1.12 The letter raised questions of the report.   
 

In summary: 
 

(i) That owners of Penyrheol Farm deny having seen anyone use the 
path alongside their property and that is supported by the 
statements by the mother and aunt of the owner. 

 
(ii) That reference to Section 31 of the Highways Act 1980 is 

considered to be relevant by the Council, but there is no evidence 
of use of the path alongside Penyrheol.  Consequently the section 
cannot be applied. 

 
Comment - Reference to Section 31 was given to identify one of 
the means by which a public path may be presumed to have 
become dedicated.  The report does point out that in this case the 
anomaly has stemmed from a conflict between the Map and 
Statement since the Draft Map and Statement was produced in 
1954.  Consequently it is not necessary to establish a minimum 
period of twenty years’ use since 1954. 

 
(iii) That the report accepts there was rubble in the path between 

points B and G and so it should be established when this first 
prevented access to establish the first date the route was called 
into question. 

 
 Comment - The objector did not offer any date, as it would be they 

who presumably would know (if anyone) when this occurred.  In 
any event, unless that obstruction occurred before 1954, then 
such a date would be irrelevant. 

 

Page 22



 

(iv) There is no evidence of use throughout the twenty years 
immediately preceding the date the electric gate was installed 
across the path in 2004. 

 
 Comment - Again, there is no requirement to establish this is the 

case.  
 
(v) That there is no evidence of common law dedication. 
 
 Comment - This is an issue as to whether either one of the other 

of the routes were subject to such dedication. 
 
(vi) That there is no evidence of use since the land evaluation was 

undertaken as a result of Finance Act 1910. 
 

Comment - This may or may not be relevant, depending on how 
much weight is given to the significance of this evaluation. 

 
(vii) That the owners of Penyrheol Farm were unaware of the series of 

reviews of the Definitive Map and Statement.   
 

Comment - This would not be considered relevant, provided this 
Council’s predecessors complied with the requirements of the 
National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949, then it is 
incumbent upon those occupiers and owners of land at the time of 
the reviews to make their objections or representations known to 
their Surveying Authority. 

 
(viii) That because the funeral procession was diverted away from the 

path, this constitutes a challenge to the existence of the public 
way. 

 
Comment - No date is given as to when this occurred, the reason 
given by the relation was the gradient and ground conditions were 
unsuitable for the procession. 

 
(ix) That too much weight is given to the depiction of the path in the 

Definitive Map. 
 

Comment - The report has provided a balanced assessment within 
paragraph 10.1. 

 
 

2.0 Conclusion  
 
2.1 The evidence on the balance of probabilities that the public path should 

be described as passing via Penyrheol Farm has not altered by any 
information provided in the objection letter.  Consequently the original 
resolution should stand. 

 

Page 23



 

 
3.0 Financial Implications  
 
3.1 There  are no financial implications with regard to this report. 
  
 
Recommended:- That a Modification Order should be made to amend the 
written statement to describe Footpath No. 64 as passing via Penyrheol Farm 
as shown in the Definitive Map. 
 
Background Papers: Row-92 
 
Appendices: The report of 2009   

 
 
 
 

Page 24



Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



Page 29



Page 30



Page 31



Page 32



Page 33



Page 34



Page 35



Page 36



Page 37



Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Page 45


	Agenda
	3 Disclosures of Personal and Prejudicial Interests.
	4 Minutes.
	5 Extinguishment of Footpath No 88 - Community of Llangyfelach.
	05 (2 of 3) - Committee Plan FP 88
	05 (3 of 3) - Extinguishment FP No  88

	6 Footpath No. 64 - Community of Llanrhidian Higher.
	06 - (2 of 3) -  Report re Public Path 64 Llanrhidian+Higher
	06 - (3 of 3) - Report re Public Path 64 Llanrhidian+Higher




